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MEDIEVAL CHURCH AT THE FOOT OF THE "CAREVI KULI*
(TSAR’S TOWERS) SITE — STRUMICA
Dushko Cvetanov
NI Institute for Protection of Cultural Monuments and Museum —
Strumica
Trajche Nacev
University Goce Delchev — Shtip
Republic of North Macedonia

At the foot of the archeological site “Tsrevi Kuli” — Strumica, more
than a decade ago, were recorded remains of a medieval church, which,
according to the location, is presumed to have been part of the urban core
of medieval Strumica. The space where the sacred building extends is
one of the wider terraces on the hill itself, in a dominant position above
the city.

With the implementation of the archaeological excavations in (2015—
2016) was revealed the full size of the church and the construction phases
were followed. In this period were discovered the spatial, architectural
and cultural characteristics of the building and the stratigraphic layers and
chronology were determined (Fig. 1.)".

It’s a matter of a one-nave church with high quality of building with
good construction material (brick, stone and lime mortar) with dimen-
sions: length 10.20 meters and width 5.90 meters. The building technique
of certain parts of the exterior facade is reminded of cloisonné, especially
in the part of the three-sided apse (Fig. 2, 3.). The church had three en-
trances, the main one on the west and two side ones on the south and
north side, which according to the needs, in certain time periods, they
were closed (walled) (Lleranos 2017).

The facades of the church are articulated with a system of blind ni-
ches, which are an expression of modern building trends. The church was
fresco-painted, and this is confirmed by the modest remains of the dis-
covered fresco-painting in situ position, on the western entrance party of
the door on both sides, were represented stylized floral motifs. Due to the
wall in of the main western entrance, the church itself has a partial preser-
vation of the fresco-painting.

! Mlustrations to the text are published on pages 441-450. Editors’ note.
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With the excavation of the church, several construction phases have
been ascertained, especially visible with the closing of the western and
southern entrance. The western entrance of the church was probably
closed with the burial of a church nobleman in a tomb in the western
part of the church. The south entrance of the church was closed after the
benches were raised next to the inner face of the south wall. In the last
decades of its existence, the one-nave church was entered only through
the northern entrance.

The tomb is built of brick and lime mortar and is located just below
the entrance. The excavations at the tomb have identified several burials,
as evidenced by the high concentration of disturbed osteological material.
A complete skeleton of a deceased with relatively good preservation, in
in situ position, was also discovered. It’s a question of buried man in an
outstretched position with his arms crossed on his chest and oriented west
— east, according to Christian canons. Two grave finds were also found in
the grave: a silver coin next to the head of the deceased and a silver ring
on his right hand. The silver coin is a Venetian grosso, Lorenzo Tiepolo
(1268-1275), while the ring according to the shape and technique of ma-
king its dated it to the end of the XIII — beginning of the XIV century.
This burial is, in fact, the last that was performed in this tomb (Fig. 4.)
(Cvetanov 2017: 194-197).

The floor of the mausoleum was made of the same bricks with which
the church was built, which another confirmation that the tomb was built
in the period when the church itself functioned. From this, we can con-
clude that if the last burial in the tomb was performed in the late XIII
— early XIV century (dated according to the findings), the first burials
in the tomb were much earlier, probably when it was built. According to
the historiographical circumstances, it would be the first half of the XIII
century and the beginning of the second half of the XIII century, and
this is confirmed by the paleographic — epigraphic analysis of the epitaph
with Cyrillic inscription, which is located on one of the three stone found
plates.

Namely, with the archeological excavations in 2015, inside the church
next to the south wall, three processed stone plates were discovered, which
were used secondarily, in the same level with the floor of the church. The
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plates are processed on one side only and it is assumed that the three of
them were part of the tomb construction inside the church. On one of
these plates, there is a tombstone inscription in Cyrillic alphabet, which is
undoubtedly dedicated to a person Jovan / Ivan, a Slav by birth (Fig. 5.).
According to the historical context in which we place the plate and the
tomb, the first half of the XIII century is a period when Byzantium lost
control over medieval Strumica.

During this period, there was an advanced decentralization of power
and growth of the petty feudal nobility and then the semi-independent
feudal principalities of Dobromir Hrs and Dobromir Strez were created.

According to the historical context, the tombstone can be dated after
1230, no later than the period when the Bulgarian emperor Ivan Asen I
(1218-1241) conquered Strumica. The Bulgarian medieval empire ruled
Strumica until 1246, when the Nicaean emperor John III Doukas Vatatzes
(1222-1254) took over Strumica (Maranos 2002: 253; Boxwunos 1985:
77-92). Since then the Romeians continue to rule Strumica until 1332
when the Serbs conquered the city for the first time (Cvetanov 2017:
197-199; AranacoBcku 2009: 46; Martano 2002: 253; boxunoB 1985:
77-92).

The durable inscriptions themselves, placed on stone sand difficult
to process, represent historic first-rate sources and, with respect to other
types of inscriptions (carved in metal, wood, dry clay, wax, brick, dry
mortar, bone etc.), they largely demonstrate an independent and specific
evolution. Therefore, this epigraphic material, although usually scarce
(similar to our material) can be a benchmark of the time of creation of a
specific sacral building, in our case the medieval church on the archaeo-
logical locality “Carevi Kuli”. This aspect points to the significance of the
paleographic and morphological analyses or resolution of the content of
this inscription, although stereotypical and without any profound data at
that time. The mentioning of the name Ivan without any title does not lead
us to believe that this person was some kind of a nobleman or a ranking
clergyman, but we could hypothesize that the deceased was an upper-
class citizen (Tomosuh 1974: 11; Krsteska / Cvetanov 2017: 89.).

The stone slab with the inscription 1 is 66 cm long, 46 cm wide and4 to
11 cm thick. The letters are 3.4 to 4.6 cm high and the depth of the carving
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is 1 to 1.5 mm. The letters carved into the inscribed tombstone resemble
the Byzantine Majuscule, a three-line epigraphic system found common-
ly on inscriptions, especially from the 12th to the 14th century(Krsteska /
Cvetanov 2017: 89-94, fig.7-8).

M(s)c(e)a 0 Mar 0 kKA A(b)Hb © I'IP'EHE?ABH ce
pABb © 5(0):kH © HBANL O BEHAR
Moy nam(e)s -

“In the month of May, (on the) 21st day, died
the servant of God, Ivan, may his memory
live forever.”

In 2021, conservation and restoration works began on the sacred
building itself. Within the project “Conservation and restoration of the
medieval church at the foot of the archeological site Carevi Kuli — Stru-
mica”, conservation archaeological excavations were carried out. These
excavations were intended for the needs of the conservation interventions
of the medieval church. The conservation archeological excavation was
carried out in the area west of the west wall of the church; in order to free,
the exterior of the west wall and the area northeast of the apse because of
the temporary illegal building at the location that had been erected (Fig.
6,7,8.).

With the removal of the retaining wall that was in function of the il-
legal building, the complete substructure of the eastern part of the church
appeared, performed in construction technique opus cementicum with a
depth of 0.9 meters (Fig. 9.). As part of the clearing of the construction
material from the substructure and superstructure, we discovered bearings
in the east wall. This fact gives us clues to conclude that the medieval
church was built with a hidden Santrach system, also called Semi opus
cloisonné cum lignum. The Santrach system starts at the level where the
substation ends and is also a leveling layer between the substructure and
the superstructure. At a height of 1.00 m, the remains of the hidden San-
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trach system were discovered in the south and north walls of the church,
while the substructure from the superstructure is separated by means of
wooden beams, which follow the direction of the walls, as well as their
transverse placement (Fig. 10.).

The constructive Santrach system of buildings in the Middle Ages en-
ters the chronological framework of the XIII-XIV century. The hidden
Santrach system is not typical for the medieval construction on the terri-
tory of Macedonia. The builders in the Middle Ages, except using lime
mortar as a binder, strengthened the walls with a constructive Santrach
system. In order to protect the beams from caries, they do not break out
on the facades of the building, but are hidden by the facade of the buil-
ding. During the excavation, due to the poor preservation of the walls,
we were not able to conclude whether exist vertical beams that should
be connected to the horizontal ones, similar to the Santrach systems in
the medieval fortifications of the XIII and XIV century. This system has
existed until today in the rural construction of the mentioned area, con-
nected with the slab layer. At certain distances in height, wooden beams
are placed horizontally along the two faces of the wall, and are connected
to each other with short transverse beams — klepa. Today we call this sys-
tem rotisserie, and in Turkish — santrach. The late medieval walls built in
this way have remained preserved on the ground to this day. The bearings
from the destroyed beams are visible. They regularly appear in the more
important details — towers, gates, angular breaches of the wall, but also
of the interior buildings. The walls were built of stone with lean plaster,
but they are fully reinforced with beams fitted on both sides of each wall
(Mukymauk 1996: 74-76).

Conservation and restoration works on the building are performed in
accordance with the basic project. In the first phase in the period May—
July 2021, conservation and restoration works were performed on the
walls of the building (Fig. 11-14.). Before we start with the conservation,
the dehydrated construction material is removed and then the walls are
cleaned and washed. After the created conditions, conservation and res-
toration of the walls was performed, following the old opus on the outer
face of the walls in Semi opus cloisonné cum lignum and opus incertum
and opus testaceum in the inner face of the walls.
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In the second phase of conservation, which began in October 2021,
the bench was restored and the tomb was preserved. Also at this stage,
the tomb was covered with the discovered monolithic plate found during
the discovery of the tomb. With the archaeological excavations have not
revealed any remains of the floor, so it will be solved with yellow sand,
placed on PVC foil, after previously leveling the floor (Fig. 15-18.). The
drainage of the church from the atmospheric water was solved by pla-
cing a hidden plastic pipe in the space of the apse with the floor level and
through the beam bearing in the east wall it goes out of the building in the
manhole next to the church.

With the conservation and restoration of the medieval church, further
destruction of the building was prevented, and the city of Strumica re-
ceived another cultural content for presentation to the wider cultural au-
dience.
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CPEJHOBEKOBHATA IIPKBA BO NIOJHOXKJETO
HA JTOKAJIUTETOT ,,JUAPEBU KYJIU“ - CTPYMULIA
dymko IIBeTanos
HY 3a600 3a 3auumuma Ha cnomenuyume Ha Kynmypama u Mysej
Cmpymuuya
Tpajue Hauesn
Yuueepsumem I'oye /lenuee — Illmun
Penyonuxa Ceeepna Makeoonuja
Pezume

CpenHoBeKoBHATa ITPKBa, JIONMPaHA € BO TMOAHOX)ETO Ha apxeo-
nmomkuotr “IlapeBn Kymu“ Crpymuna, Ha okomy 200 M ceBEpOHUCTOTHO
on (oprudukamnujara. [{pkeara npercraBysa Jes o1 ypOaHOTO jaapo Ha
cpenHoBekoBHa CTpyMmHulla, U3rpajicHa MOKPaj €AHa O] KOMYHUKAI[UUTE
KoM Bojene no TBpauHara “llapesu Kymm*.

Bo Tpynor ce nmpe3eHTHpaHH, PE3yITaTH O] APXCOIOIIKUTE UCTPAXKY-
Bama, m3BeaeHu Bo 2015 u 2016 romuHa 1 KOH3EPBATOPCKO peCTaBPaTOP-
cKY paboTtu kou 3arnounaa Bo 2021 roguna.

Knyunu 360posu: CpenHOBEKOBHA IIPKBA, UCTPAKyBambe, KOH3EpBa-
nyja, pecraspanuja, CTpymuiia.
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Wntoctpanun xkpM ctarusita Ha Dushko Cvetanov and Trajche Nacev
— ,,Medieval church at the foot of the ”Carevi kuli* (Tsar’s towers) site —
Strumica®, ctp. 293-299.

Fig. 1. Panorama of the medieval church,
after archeological excavations.

Fig. 2. Detail of the construction technique Semi opus cloisonné
cum lignum on the east wall.
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Fig. 4. Tomb in the nave of the medieval church,
after archeological excavations.
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Fig. 6. Detail of construction technique opus incertum on the west wall.
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Fig. 7. Detail of the construction technique opus testaceum
on the north wall.

Fig. 8. East wall of the medieval church, after the removal
of the temporary building.
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Fig. 10. Wooden beams from the Santrach system, at the east wall
of the medieval church.
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Fig. 11. North wall of the medieval church after conservation and
restoration.

Fig. 12. South wall of the medieval church after conservation and
restoration.
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Fig. 13. East wall of the medieval church after conservation, restoration
and partial reconstruction.

Fig. 14. Western wall of the medieval church after conservation and
restoration.
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Fig. 15. Sitting bench after conservation and reconstruction.

Fig. 16. The tomb in the medieval church, after conservation and
restoration.
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Fig. 18. Panorama of the medieval church, after completion
of conservation, restoration and partial reconstruction.
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Plan: The basis of the medieval church.

Map: Topographic map.
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